IDENTIFICATION OF PREDICTIVE FACTORS FOR RESECTABILITY IN NON-METASTATIC CARCINOMA RECTUM.



A dissertation submitted in the partial fulfilment of MS General Surgery (Branch I) examination of the Tamil Nadu Dr. M.G.R. Medical University, Chennai to be held in the year 2020 REG NO : 221511452

BONAFIDE CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that this is a bonafide work of **DR.EVANGELINE PREETI JENNIFER** submitted in partial fulfillment of the rules and regulations to Dr. M.G.R Medical University, Chennai for the M. S. branch – I (General Surgery) examination to be held in the year 2020.

COLLEGE SEAL :

SIGNATURE : _____

DR. ANNA B. PULIMOOD PRINCIPAL CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE, VELLORE, TAMIL NADU .

BONAFIDE CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled "**IDENTIFICATION OF PREDICTIVE FACTORS FOR RESECTABILITY IN NON-METASTATIC CARCINOMA RECTUM"** is a bonafide work of **DR.EVANGELINE PREETI JENNIFER** submitted in partial fulfillment of the rules and regulations to Dr. M.G.R Medical University, Chennai for the M. S. branch – I (General Surgery) examination in the year 2020.

Name & Signature of the Co-Guide:_____

Dr. Suchita Chase

Professor

General Surgery Unit – IV

Christian Medical College,

Vellore, Tamil Nadu

Name & Signature of the Research Guide: _____

Dr.Mark Ranjan Jesudasan

Professor and Head

General Surgery Unit – II

Christian Medical College,

Vellore, Tamil Nadu

DECLARATION

This is to declare that the dissertation entitled "IDENTIFICATION OF PREDICTIVE FACTORS FOR RESECTABILITY IN NON-METASTATIC CARCINOMA RECTUM"

" in the Department of General Surgery is my own work under the guidance of Dr.Mark Ranjan Jesudasan, Professor and Head of General Surgery Unit II and Dr.Suchita Chase, Professor General Surgery Unit IV, and submitted to the Dr.M.G.R Medical University in partial fulfillment of the rules and regulations for the M.S branch – I (General Surgery) examination to be held in the year 2020.

DR.EVANGELINE PREETI JENNIFER

M. S. Post Graduate trainee. Department of General Surgery, Christian Medical College, Vellore.

PLAGIARISM CERTIFICATE



Content Checked For Plagiarism

This is to certify that the dissertation titled "Identification of predictive factors for resectability in non metastatic carcinoma rectum " is a bonafide work of Dr. Evangeline Preeti Jennifer for M. S General Surgery. I have personally verified for the purpose of plagiarism check. I found that the uploaded thesis file contains from the introduction to conclusion pages and result shows 2 % of plagiarism in the dissertation.

Dr. Mark Ranjan Jesudason Professor and Head of the Division of Surgery and Surgery Unit II – Colorectal Surgery, Christian Medical College, Vellore – 632004.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank God for this opportunity to train at Christian Medical College, Vellore and the strength and endurance to complete this thesis.

I owe a debt of gratitude to

- My guide Dr.Mark Ranjan Jesudasan, Head, Department of General Surgery for guiding me through what has been a challenging task of thesis completion.
- Dr.Suchita Chase, my mentor for being a beacon of hope during dark times, a teacher and sometimes even a friend. This would not have happened without you ma'am.
- Dr.RajatRagunath for helping me decide my thesis topic and always encouraging me to do more.
- Dr.Rohin Mittal for reading through various drafts of my thesis and polishing it to its present shape.
- Dr.Sukriya Nayak, for all the support and for facilitating the thesis extension.
- Dr. Philip Joseph, for most of all your kindness and encouragement which brought me back to being the surgeon I wanted to be.
- Dr.Banerjee Jesudasan whose work inspired me to specialize in surgery.
- Department of Surgery 2 (Dr.GigiVerghese, Dr.RajeshSelvakumar, Dr.Bharat ,Dr.Harish
) for giving me the opportunity to do my thesis with them.
- Secretaries of Surgery 2 for helping with the data collection.
- My colleagues, seniors and juniors who shared my burden and have become friends for life.
- All my nursing colleagues and office staff who have supported me in various capacities both for the thesis as well as during my training.
- Dr.SimonPavamani, Vice Principal and Dr.AnnaPulimood, Principal Christian Medical College for their support with obtaining the condonation and providing permission to extend my thesis.
- Mrs.Grace Rebecca in biostatistics for helping with the analysis.
- Staff in the Principals office and Research office who have helped me without hesitation.

- The administrators of my service obligation institution and the Diocese of Vellore for giving permission to take time off to complete my thesis.
- Dr. LionelGnanaraj, my mentor at SMH who has been a pillar of support and encouragement.
- Myparents, sisters and brother in law for their unceasing love and unending support.

Nowhere is the drive to do better more important than in medicine, where lives are on the line with every decision.

I am indebted to the patients I have met and attempted to treat, for sharing their gut wrenching journeys in CMC and beyond which inspired me to strive and be better in order to do my very best.

"Sometimes we can offer a cure, sometimes only a salve, sometimes not even that. But whatever we can offer, our interventions, and the risks and sacrifices they entail, are justified only if they serve the larger aims of a person's life. When we forget that, the suffering we inflict can be barbaric. When we remember it the good we do can be breathtaking." — Atul Gawande, Being Mortal: Medicine and What Matters in the End

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TOPIC	PAGE NUMBER
Introduction	15
Justification	17
Aims and Objectives	18
Review of literature	19
Methodology	49
Results	54
Discussion	64
Conclusion	72
References	75
Appendices	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Estimated 5-year cancer prevalent cases in 2018	
Figure 2	Overall survival of patients with colon cancer	
Figure 3	Flow diagram summarizing the patients with local and distant recurrences and cancer-related deaths by histopathological risk factors and treatment strategies	
Figure 4	Mesorectal excision specimen	
Figure 5	Study outline	
Figure 6	Sex ratio	
Figure 7	Mobility of lesions in operated patients	
Figure 8	Mobility of lesions in inoperable patients	
Figure 9	Obstruction of tumor in operated patients	
Figure 10	Obstruction of tumor in in operable patients	
Figure 11	Histopathology findings	
Figure 12	EMVI status in operated and inoperable patients	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Baseline characteristics of patients with rectal cancer from the NCDB, years 2004–2013	
Table 2	Concentrations of CEA and CA 19-9	
Table 3	The characteristics of patients according to CEA group	
Table 4	4 <i>Relation between serum CEA levels before surgery and at recurrence/after surgery</i> (12)	
Table 5	TNM Staging	
Table 6	Age distribution	
Table 7	BMI	
Table 9	Duration of summtants	
Table 8		
Table 9	Tumor staging between operated and inoperable patients	
Table 10	Comparison of tumor stage between operated and inoperable patients.	
T 11 44		
Table 11	Tumor regression grade	
Table 12	Summary of results	

LIST OF APPENDICES

A Institutional review board clearance letter

ABBREVIATIONS

1	SRA	superior rectal artery
2	IMA	inferior mesenteric artery
3	GI	gastrointestinal
4	PET/CT	positron emission tomography/computed tomography
5	CEA	carcinoembryonic antigen
6	MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
7	ASCO	American Society of Clinical Oncology
8	TNM	tumor node metastasis
9	CRM	circumferential radial margins
10	TME	Total mesorectal excision
11	TaTME	Transanal TME
12	EMVI	Extramural vascular invasion
13	TRG	Tumour Regression grade

"We look for medicine to be an orderly field of knowledge and procedure. But it is not. It is an imperfect science, an enterprise of constantly changing knowledge, uncertain information, fallible individuals, and at the same time lives on the line. There is science in what we do, yes, but also habit, intuition, and sometimes plain old guessing. The gap between what we know and what we aim for persists. And this gap complicates everything we do." — Atul Gawande, Complications: A Surgeon's Notes on an Imperfect Science

INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer in the world. Approximately 60% of cases are seen in developed countries. In the United States there are approximately 43,030 newly diagnosed rectal cancer patients each year (2). It is also the third most common cause of female mortality and second most common cause of male mortality in the United States (3).

In India, in men, colon cancer is the 8^{th} and rectal is the 9^{th} most common cancer seen in men. However, in women, rectal cancer is less common than colon cancer which is the 9^{th} most common cancer (1).

Treatment of rectal cancer is multimodal and includes surgical resection of the tumour, chemotherapy and radiotherapy. The modality used depends on the stage of the disease at the time of diagnosis as well as many other factors. However, surgery remains the mainstay of treatment.All patients with a newly diagnosed rectal cancer require complete evaluation and staging, which includes :

- History and physical examination.
- Routine laboratory tests, including CEA
- > Radiological imaging including MRI of the pelvis.
- Histopathology report
- Colonoscopy

After complete evaluation and staging all patients should be discussed in tumor board meeting and treatment plan made.

JUSTIFICATION

The treatment of non metastatic rectal carcinoma has changed over the years. While surgery continues to be the mainstay of treatment, current practice is to offer multimodal therapy to improve outcomes for patients. Other modes of treatment available include:

- Neoadjuvant Radiotherapy: Preoperative radiation (along with chemotherapy) is used for locally advanced rectal malignancies to downstage tumours. This often results in lower local recurrence rates. Also, some tumours which were earlier deemed inoperable, may become smaller in size and be amenable to surgery. Radiotherapy for downsizing is usually provided as a long course chemoradiotherapy, along with radiosensitising chemotherapy.
- Chemotherapy: Chemotherapy as part of the treatment regime has proven to be very effective in advanced stage rectal cancer. This includes preoperative (neo adjuvant) and post operative (adjuvant) chemotherapy.

Large tumors, deemed to be inoperable, may be offered neoadjuvant long course chemoradiation followed by a long wait, to reassess operability. Some of these tumors may become operable, however many will remain inoperable.

This study was designed to assess risk factors in the preoperative period, which would predict those patients who do not respond to neoadjuvant therapy and remained inoperable.

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

AIM

• To identify predictive factors for resectability in non-metastatic carcinoma rectum

OBJECTIVES

• To identify clinical, pathological and radiological factors to predict risk for resectability

in non metastatic carcinoma rectum.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

SURGICAL ANATOMY

Rectum

Rectum is the continuation of the sigmoid colon extending below to the anal canal. It is 12 to 15 cm in length. It is characterized by the absence of taeniae, epiploic appendices, haustra and a well-defined mesentery. In women, the anterior rectum is in close proximity to the posterior vagina and uterine cervix . In men, it is behind the bladder, vas deferens, seminal vesicles and prostate.

The proximal limit of the rectum is at the rectosigmoid junction and the distal limit is at the dentate line. The dentate line is the transition point from columnar mucosa of the rectum to squamous mucosa of the anus. Radiologically, the upper limit of rectum is at the sacral promontory, while on endoscopy, it is 15 cm from the anal verge.

The rectum has three lateral curves corresponding to the valves (folds) of Houston. The upper and lower curves are convex to the right, and the middle is convex to the left. Once the rectum is mobilized, these valves are no longer present and are responsible for the increase in length gained during the surgical dissection. The rectum is located below the peritoneal reflexion. The posterior rectal wall, which is close to the sacral hollow, is entirely extraperitoneal. The upper rectum is invested by peritoneum anteriorly and laterally, and the middle rectum is invested by peritoneum only anteriorly.

The fascia propria is an extension of the pelvic fascia and encloses the rectum, adipose tissue, blood, and lymphatic vessels. It is more pronounced laterally and posteriorly and forms the lateral ligaments of the rectum. Mesorectum is areolar tissue around the rectum that is thicker posteriorly and contains the terminal branches of the inferior mesenteric artery.

The rectum occupies the sacral concavity and ends 2 to 3 cm proximal to the tip of the coccyx. The presacral fascia covers the concavity of the sacrum and coccyx, presacral nerves, the middle sacral artery, and presacral veins. Distal rectal cancers are located 4 to 8 cm from the anal verge, mid rectal cancers are located 8 to 12 cm from the anal verge, and proximal rectal cancers 12 to 15 cm. The anal canal is 0 to 4 cm from the anal verge. However, surgical decision making for sphincter preservation is depends on the distance from the lower border of the tumor to the top of the anorectal ring rather than the anal verge.

Arterial blood supply

The upper rectum is supplied by the superior rectal artery (SRA), a branch of the inferior mesenteric artery (IMA). The middle and lower rectum are supplied by the middle rectal artery

and inferior rectal artery, respectively, which is a branch of the anterior division of the internal iliac artery .

Venous and lymphatic drainage

The lymphatic drainage of the upper two-thirds of the rectum is along the pathway of the superior hemorrhoidal vein, to the inferior mesenteric nodes and the paraaortic nodes. The lymphatic drainage of the lower third of the rectum is along the middle hemorrhoidal vessels to the internal iliac nodes. Below the dentate line, the drainage is along the inferior rectal lymphatics to the superior inguinal nodes and along the pathway of the inferior rectal artery.

Innervation

All pelvic nerves lie in the plane between the peritoneum and the endopelvic fascia, hence are at a risk of being injured during rectal dissection. The preganglionic fibers via the sympathetic nerves follow the branches of the Inferior Mesenteric Artery and the Superior Rectal Artery to the left colon and upper rectum. The presacral nerves , which consists of the aortic plexus and lumbar splanchnic plexus innervate the lower rectum. Just below the sacral promontory, the presacral nerves form the hypogastric plexus. The main hypogastric nerves enter the rectum laterally and carry sympathetic innervation from the hypogastric to the pelvic plexus, located on the lateral side of the pelvis , at the level of the lower rectum. The parasympathetic plexus emerges through the sacral foramen and joins the sympathetic hypogastric nerves at the pelvic plexus. Postganglion parasympathetic and sympathetic fibers are distributed to the left colon and upper rectum via the inferior mesenteric plexus and directly to the lower rectum and upper anal canal.

RECTAL CARCINOMA

There has been a rapid increase in incidence of colorectal carcinoma. There has been an estimate of 18.1 million new cancer cases and 9.6 million deaths caused by colorectal cancer in year 2018(1). It is also considered as the second highest cause of deaths. The estimated 5-year cancer prevalent cases are shown below. In 2018, there were 4,789,635 patients who had been diagnosed as having colorectal cancer within the previous 5 years. Though some studies show a slight male predominance, based on 2018 data o newly diagnosed colorectal carcinoma, there was an equal distribution between men (2,595,326) and women (2,194,309). The 5-year prevalence of CRC was 62.8/100,000 and it is ranked the second among all cancer types based on 2018 WHO statistics(2).



Figure 1: Estimated 5-year cancer prevalent cases in 2018 (top 10). There were 4,789,635 patients (2,595,326 men and 2,194,309 women) who had been diagnosed as having colorectal cancer within the previous 5 years. Data source: International Agency for Research on Cancer, GLOBOCAN 2018, World Health Organization (WHO)

There are various factors that affect the presence of colorectal carcinoma. They include age, gender, ethiniciy, body mass index, diet etc(3). Of these age is an important factor(4). It is seen that the risk of developing colorectal carcinomaincreases dramatically after age 50 years . 90% of all CRCs are diagnosed after 50 years old. The incidence rate of colorectal cancer in the United States increased sharply after age 40 years and rates for male subjects were significantly higher than that in female subjects. Some western studies show that obesity is associated with colorectal cancer, however an Asian study shows that there is correlation between obesity and colon cancer but not with rectal cancer(5).



Figure 2 : Overall survival of patients with colon cancer (A) and rectal cancer (B) by age \leq 50 and \geq 60, adjusted by Charlson-Deyo comorbidity status.

Detient cheve stavistic	Group), n (%)		
Patient characteristic	≤50 years	≥60 years	— Overall, n (%)	
Overall	37,979 (20.9)	143,930 (79.1)	181,909 (100.0)	
Gender*				
Male	21,750 (57.3)	82,771 (57.5)	104,521 (57.5)	
Female	16,229 (42.7)	61,159 (42.5)	77,388 (42.5)	
Race				
White	31,322 (82.5)	125,270 (87.0)	156,592 (86.1)	
Black	4,131 (10.9)	11,606 (8.1)	15,737 (8.7)	
Other	2,526 (6.7)	7,054 (4.9)	9,580 (5.3)	
Ethnicity				
Not Hispanic	32,270 (91.3)	126,390 (94.9)	158,660 (94.2)	
Hispanic	3,062 (8.7)	6,725 (5.1)	9,787 (5.8)	

Table-1 Baseline characteristics of patients with rectal cancer from the NCDB, years 2004–2013, based on available data

<u>Clinical presentation of rectal cancer(6)</u>

Patients with colorectal cancer may present in three ways:

- Suspicious symptoms and signs as mentioned below
- Asymptomatic individuals diagnosed with cancer during routine screening

• Emergency admission with intestinal obstruction, peritonitis, or rarely, an acute gastrointestinal (GI) bleed

Local symptoms -

In a retrospective cohort study of a total of 29,000 patients conducted at a colorectal surgery clinic over a period of 22 years, the most common symptoms that were noted in patients with colorectal carcinomaincluded :

• change in bowel habits (74%)

• Rectal bleeding in combination with change in bowel habits (51 % of all cancers and 71% of those presenting with rectal bleeding)

- Rectal mass (24.5 %)
- •Iron deficiency anemia (9.6%)
- •Abdominal pain was the least common symptom (3.8%).

In another study conducted from 2011 to 2014 among 388 patients diagnosed with colorectal carcinoma, anemia was more common than altered bowel habits. These patients underwent diagnostic colonoscopy and the primary presentation for the group was as follows:

- Bleeding per rectum (37 percent)
- Abdominal pain (34 percent)
- Anemia (23 percent)

• 6 patients (1.9 percent) had incidental colonic hypermetabolic activity detected by a positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) image that was being done for another reason.

• 4 patients (1.3 percent) underwent diagnostic colonoscopy because of change in bowel habits (diarrhea).

Clinical manifestations may also depend on tumor location:

- Abdominal pain may be present due to partial obstruction, peritonealdisease, or perforation with generalized peritonitis.
- •Rectal cancer can cause tenesmus, rectal pain, and diminished caliber of stools.

Metastatic disease

Patients can also present with signs and symptoms of metastatic disease(7). Approximately 20 percent of patients in the United States have distant metastatic disease at the time of presentation . Metastasis can be by lymphatic and hematogenous dissemination, as well as by contiguous and transperitoneal routes. The most common metastatic sites are the regional lymph nodes, liver, lungs, and peritoneum. Patients may present with signs or symptoms depending on the site of the metastatic lesion. These symptoms include right hypochondrial pain, jaundice, cough with hemoptysis and rarely abdominal distension .On examination they may have hepatomegaly,

abdominal mass, ascites, supraclavicular lymphadenopathy, periumbilical nodules in advanced and metastatic disease. Since the venous drainage is through the portal system, the first site of hematogenous dissemination is usually the liver, followed by the lungs, bone, and other sites, rarely including the brain. Tumors arising in the distal rectum may metastasize initially to the lungs because the inferior rectal vein drains into the inferior vena cava rather than into the portal venous system.

DIAGNOSIS

For all patients with a newly diagnosed rectal cancer, a pretreatment staging evaluation is required(8)(9). The purpose of this study was to evaluate the diagnostic efficiency of colorectal carcinoma (CRC) with the tumor markers Carcinoembryonic Antigen (CEA) and Carbohydrate Antigen 19-9 (CA 19-9), in addition to investigating whether CA 19-9 can be used to screen the disease process in patients with CRC who had no elevation of CEA levels. Methods: Serum levels of CEA and CA 19-9 were measured in: 138 patients with CRC; 111 patients with benign colorectal diseases. The diagnostic value was performed using the logistic regression equation and receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC). Results: The serum levels of CEA and CA 19-9 in the patients with CRC were significantly higher than those in the patients with benign colorectal diseases (P < 0.001).

Receiver operating characteristic curves (ROC) in the patients with CRC versus those with benign colorectal disease yielded the optimal cut-off value of 3.36 ng/ml for CEA and 23.9 U/ml for CA 19-9, respectively. The area under ROC curve (AUC) was 0.789 for CEA, 0.690 for CA 19-9 and 0.900 for the combination of the two tumor markers. The combination resulted in a higher Youden index and a sensitivity of 85.3%. Conclusion: The combined detection of serum CEA and CA 19-9 could play a pivotal role in the diagnosis of CRC, and could drastically improve the sensitivity for the diagnosis of CRC. CA 19-9 might be a tumor biomarker in addition to CEA for

(10).

It consists of :

- History and physical examination.
- Laboratory tests, including liver function tests and a carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) level.
- Rigid proctosigmoidoscopy and digital rectal examination (assessment of the distance of tumour from the anal verge, mobility and position in relation to the anal sphincter).
- Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or endorectal ultrasound to assess the local extent of the tumor.
- Colonoscopy to assess for synchronous colonic lesions.
- Computed tomography (CT) of the chest, abdomen, and pelvis to assess for metastatic disease.

Laboratory tests

For diagnosis of rectal carcinoma there is no role for routine blood investigations. In case of complication due to the disease, e.g. Hemoglobin can be checked in case o iron deficiency anemia due to bleeding per rectum. Similarly liver function tests can be done incase of metastasis to liver, however it is not a sensitive test for metastasis.

Tumor markers

A variety of serum markers have been associated with CRC, including carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)(10). However, they have a low diagnostic ability to detect primary CRC due to significant overlap with benign disease and low sensitivity for early-stage disease.

			20 .0	
Group	Ν	CEA (ng/ml)	CA 19-9 (U/ml)	
CRC	138	5.60 (2.08-11.25)	21.60 (11.45-46.00)	
Benign colorectal disorder	111	1.73 (1.17-2.45)	13.00 (7.60-19.00)	
Mann-Whitney U test was carried out between the two groups: CEA ($Z = -7.843$, $P < 0.001$), CA 19-9 ($Z = -5.159$, $P < 0.001$).				

Table-2 shows the concentrations of CEA and CA 19-9 were statistically different among the two groups (Z = -8.826--8.609, all P < 0.001). The levels of CEA and CA 19-9 were significantly higher in CRC group than those in benign colorectal disorder group

Based on a meta-analysis, the pooled sensitivity of CEA for diagnosis of CRC was only 46 percent (95% CI 0.45-0.47). No other conventional tumor marker had a higher diagnostic sensitivity, including carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (pooled sensitivity 0.30, 95% CI 0.28-0.32).

Also, specificity of CEA is limited. Other causes for elevatedCEA include gastritis, peptic ulcer disease, diverticulitis, liver disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes, and any acute or chronic inflammatory state. It is also seen that, CEA levels are significantly higher in cigarette smokers than in non-smokers.

Table 1: Patient characteristics

	r-CEA < 5 (n=479)	r-CEA≥5 (n=266)	P
Median disease free interval	16.4	15.8	
(range, months)	(0.9-158.0)	(0.7-118.4)	
Gender			0.390
Male	314 (65.6%)	166 (62.4%)	
Female	165 (34.4%)	100 (37.6%)	
Median age (range, years)			
Initial pT-stage			0.089
pT0-2	116 (24.2%)	50 (18.8%)	
pT3-4	363 (75.8%)	216 (81.2%)	
Initial pN-stage			< 0.001
pN0-1	344 (71.8%)	155 (58.3%)	
pN2-3	135 (28.2%)	111 (41.7%)	
Initial CEA			< 0.001
CEA < 5	383 (80.0%)	118 (44.4%)	
$CEA \ge 5$	96 (20.0%)	148 (55.6%)	
Initial treatment			0.899
Surgery alone	228 (47.6%)	132 (49.6%)	
Surgery + adjuvant CCRT	101 (21.1%)	57 (21.4%)	
NACRT + Surgery	144 (30.1%)	75 (28.2%)	
Preop RT + Surgery	6 (1.2%)	2 (0.8%)	
Pattern of failure			0.064
LRR	91 (19.0%)	51 (19.2%)	
DM	323 (67.4%)	162 (60.9%)	
LRR + DM	65 (13.6%)	53 (19.9%)	
Treatment after recurrence			< 0.001
Salvage treatment	165 (34.4%)	54 (20.3%)	
Surgery +/- CCRT	140 (29.2%)	37 (13.9%)	
RT +/- chemo	9 (1.9%)	10 (3.8%)	
RFA only (for liver metastasis)	16 (3.3%)	7 (2.6%)	
Palliative or conservative	248 (51.8%)	183 (68.8%)	
Unknown	66 (13.8%)	29 (10.9%)	

CEA, carcinoembryonic antigen level; CCRT, concurrent chemoradiotherapy; NACRT, neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy; LRR, locoregional recurrence; DM, distant metastasis; RT, radiation therapy; RFA, radiofrequency ablation

. Table The characteristics of patients according to CEA group(11)

An expert panel on tumor markers in breast and colorectal cancer convened by the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) recommended that neither serum CEA nor any other marker, including CA 19-9, should be used as a screening or diagnostic test for CRC.

A similar recommendation has been made by the European Group on Tumor Markers . However, CEA level is valuable in the follow-up of patients with diagnosed CRC. ASCO guidelines recommend that serum CEA levels be collected in CRC patients preoperatively to help in posttreatment follow-up, and in the assessment of prognosis(12).

Before surgery	At recurrenc	At recurrence				
	<5 ng/mL	≥5 ng/mL	р	<10 ng/mL	≥10 ng/mL	р
Relation between serum	CEA levels bef	fore surgery and	those at r	ecurrence in 100	6 patients with	recurrence
<5 ng/mL ($n = 34$)	19 (55.9%)	15 (44.1%)	< 0.001	25 (73.5%)	9 (26.5%)	< 0.001
\leq 5 ng/mL (<i>n</i> = 72)	18 (25.0%)	54 (75.0%)		31 (43.1%)	41 (56.9%)	
Before surgery	After surger	ŗy				
Before surgery	After surger	ry		<10 ng/mI	>10 ng/m	
Before surgery	After surger <5 ng/mL	ry ≥5 ng/mL	<i>p</i>	<10 ng/mL	≥10 ng/mi	L p
Before surgery Relation between serum	After surger <5 ng/mL CEA levels bef	ry ≥5 ng/mL fore surgery and	<i>p</i> those afte	<10 ng/mL er surgery in 677	≥ 10 ng/m 7 patients witho	L p ut recurrenc
Before surgery Relation between serum <5 ng/mL (n = 352)	After surger <5 ng/mL CEA levels bef 343 (97.4%)	ry ≥5 ng/mL fore surgery and 9 (2.6%)	<i>p</i> those after <0.00	<10 ng/mL er surgery in 677 01 352 (100%)	≥10 ng/m² 7 patients witho 0 (0%)	L p ut recurrenc <0.001

Relation between serum CEA levels before surgery and at recurrence/after surgery(12)

Serum levels of CEA have prognostic utility in patients with newly diagnosed CRC. Patients with preoperative serum CEA >5 ng/mL have a worse prognosis, stage for stage, than those with

lower levels, however other data concludes that elevated preoperative CEA that normalizes after resection is not an indicator of poor prognosis.

Elevated preoperative CEA levels that do not normalize following surgical resection suggests the presence of disease, requiring more evaluation and management.

A rising CEA level after surgical resection implies recurrent disease and should prompt followup radiologic imaging. Hence it is suggested by various studies that a serial assay of postoperative CEA levels should be performed for five years for patients with stage II and III disease if they may be a potential candidate for surgery or chemotherapy if they are diagnosed with metastatic disease.

Colonoscopy

Colonoscopy is the most accurate and versatile diagnostic test for CRC, since it can localize the tumor and also biopsy lesions, detect synchronous neoplasms, and remove polyps. Synchronous CRCs, defined as two or more distinct primary tumors diagnosed within six months of an initial CRC, separated by normal bowel, and not due to direct extension or metastasis, occur in 3 to 5 percent of patients (13).

The tumors appear as endoluminal masses that arise from the mucosa and protrude into the lumen. The masses may be exophytic or polypoid. Bleeding (oozing or frank bleeding) may be seen with lesions that are friable, necrotic, or ulcerated. Circumferential or near-circumferential involvement of the bowel wall correlates with the so-called "apple-core" description seen on

radiologic imaging. A few of the neoplastic lesions in the gastrointestinal tract are nonpolypoid and relatively flat or depressed.

The methods for tissue sampling of larger visible lesions include biopsies, brushings, and polypectomy. For lesions that are completely removed endoscopically (with polypectomy, endoscopic mucosal resection, or endoscopic submucosal dissection), tattooing is important for subsequent localization if an invasive neoplasm is found, and additional local therapy is needed. Tattoos are usually placed adjacent to or a few centimeters distal to the lesion. If a malignant obstruction precludes a full colonoscopy preoperatively, the entire residual colon should be examined soon after resection.

STAGING OF RECTAL CANCER

Based on the pre treatment evaluation of the patients newy diagnosed with rectal cancer, the patients are staged based on the tumor node metastasis (TNM) staging system recommended by the American Joint Committee on Cancer(14). Staging helps in tailoring treatment to each individual, including a combination of surgery/ chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Staging also helps in prognosticating the disease.

The TNM staging is as follows:

Table -1 TNM Staging

т2	Tumor involves the muscularis propria but no extension is seen into the perirectal
12	tissues
T3	Tumor extends into the perirectal tissues
T4a	Tumor penetrates to the surface of the visceral peritoneum
T4b	Tumor involves adjacent organs
N1	1–3 regional lymph nodes
N1a	1 positive regional lymph node
N1b	2–3 positive regional lymph nodes
N1c	Tumor deposit(s) in the perirectal tissues without nodal metastases
N2	≥4 positive regional lymph nodes
N2a	4–6 positive regional lymph nodes
N2b	≥7 positive regional lymph nodes
M0	No distant metastasis
M1	Distant metastasis
M1a	Distant metastasis present in only 1 organ or site
M1t	Distant metastasis present in >1 organ/site or peritoneal metastases



Flow diagram summarizing the patients with local and distant recurrences and cancer-related deaths by histopathological risk factors and treatment strategies. CRC: colorectal cancer; ER: endoscopic resection only; ER+SR: endoscopic resection followed by surgical resection; SR: surgical resection only; TR: trans anal resection; R: recurrence; D: distant recurrence; L: local recurrence; L+D: local and distant recurrence; *patients with cancer-related deaths(15).

MANAGEMENT OF RECTAL CANCER

Rectal cancers , like several other malignancies , are treated with a multidisciplinary approach(16). In most patients surgery continues to play an important role in treatment with curative intent. For example, some patients with limited invasive cancer in a polyp may have no other adverse features. For such patients polypectomy alone may be enough. For others who have locally extensive, fixed, bulky tumors or extensive nodal disease, induction chemoradiotherapy or induction chemotherapy followed by chemoradiotherapy may be used as the best treatment option. Majority of cases require a combination of 2 or all 3 modalities of treatment. Decision for each patient is made by a multidisciplinary team depending on their preoperative evaluation . Chemotherapy and radiotherapy can be delivered either as adjuvant or as neoadjuvant therapy(17).

PRINCIPLES OF SURGICAL RESECTION

The primary aim of surgery for rectal cancer includes a wide resection of the rectal cancer to obtain histologically negative margins. The secondary aim remains is to reestablish intestinal continuity and preserve anorectal function (fecal continence)(18).


Figure : Mesorectal excision specimen

In this total mesorectal excision specimen, one can see that the mesorectum ends just above the upper aspect of the surgical anal canal, which is at the anorectal angle. During a double stapled coloanal anastomosis, the anus is divided at the anorectal angle, and the anastomosis will be constructed ~ 1.5 to 2.0 cm above the dentate line.

Resection margins

The primary goal of surgery for rectal cancer is to achieve histologically negative proximal, distal, and radial margins(19).

Proximal margin

Surgery is planned so as to obtain a minimum of 5 cm of proximal margin so as to ensure that the draining lymphatics are removed along with the tumour(20).

Distal margin

Minimum recommended negative distal margin is 2 cm for most sphincter-sparing procedures. However, for tumours located at or below the distal mesorectal margin, a 1-cm negative distal margin can be considered acceptable in the setting of neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy. If the surgeon is unable to obtain the minimum negative margin, it is an indication to convert / plan for an APR, which extends the distal margin to the anus. For upper rectal cancers, a 5-cm distal margin distal to the tumor is acceptable. A positive distal margin was associated with a local recurrence rate approaching 40 percent (hazard ratio [HR] 16.8, 95% CI 4.8-5.9) and a decreased five-year survival (HR 2.35,95% CI 1.08-5.11), even with the use

of TME and adjuvant radiotherapy.

Radial margins

In rectal surgery, the circumferential radial margins (CRM) are as important as the distal margin(21). A histologic CRM of greater than 1 mm is required. However, in one large cohort study, as many as 17 percent of patients undergoing rectal cancer surgery had a positive CRM. A positive CRM is an independent predictor of local recurrences and inferior survival. The risk of having a positive CRM is increased in patients with locally advanced tumors. Hence, patients identified on presurgical staging evaluation to have tumor within 2 mm of the mesorectal fascia should receive neoadjuvant therapy to reduce the risk of having a positive CRM. During APR, the levator ani muscle should be resected en bloc with the rectum and anal canal to avoid CRM involvement or perforation. The various surgical procedures include local excision , sphincter sparing procedures and abdominal perineal resection.

Local Excision:

It is recommended for mobile, stage T1, well or moderately differentiated tumours in the distal rectum with no vascular or lymphatic invasion that are less than 3 cm in diameter and involve less than 30% of the rectal wall circumference(22) . These tumours should also have no evidence of nodal disease on preoperative ultrasound or MRI. The other indication for local excision includes palliation of more advanced cancer in patients with severe comorbid disease, in whom extensive surgery carries a high risk for morbidity or mortality. The procedure involves a trans anal approach with excision of the full thickness of the rectal wall underlying the tumor. In these cases, the incidence of lymphatic metastases is less than 8 % . However, tumours in this region that invade or penetrate the muscular wall have a higher incidence of local recurrence (>20%), hence in these patients only local excision would be inadequate . Other disadvantage of local excision is that since it does not include mesorectal lymph nodal dissection operative staging would be incomplete(23).

Proctectomy with total mesorectal excision (abdominoperineal resection or low anterior resection) allows examination of the local lymph nodes and is associated with 5-year survival rates more than 95% for stage I T2N0 rectal cancers. In T2N0 lesion which are small (<3 cm), distal, accessible and have no poor histopathologic features (poor differentiation, lymphovascular or perineural invasion), local excision in combination with chemoradiation may be indicated(24).

Total mesorectal excision (TME)

TME involves en bloc removal of the perirectal areolar tissue, including the lateral and circumferential margins of the mesorectum, lymphatics and tumor deposits with the primary rectal cancer(25). TME also preserves the autonomic nerves and reduces the risk of presacral bleeding.TME has replaced blunt dissection as the standard technique of removing perirectal tissue when performing radical rectal cancer surgery (sphincter sparing or APR). As the

rectum is 12 to 15 cm long, a complete removal of the mesorectum down to the pelvic floor is only necessary for mid and lower rectal malignancy. For upper rectal malignancy, the mesorectum only needs to be excised to a level of 5 cm below the primary tumor so as to obtain a negative resection margin.

TME technique(26)

Standard transabdominal TME — Standard TME is performed transabdominally with open, laparoscopic, or robotic techniques.

A standard TME for rectal cancer includes

• Removal of mesorectum, including the lateral and circumferential margins of the mesorectal envelope, to 5 cm below the distal margin of the primary tumor (in upper rectal cancer), or to the pelvic floor (in mid and lower rectal cancer)

• Removal of the blood supply and lymphatics of the origin of the superior rectal artery by ligating the inferior mesenteric artery (IMA) below the origin of the left colic artery (low tie

technique). Compared with ligating the IMA at its origin from the aorta (high tie technique), the low tie technique minimizes injury to the superior hypogastric plexus, which in turn minimizes postoperative urinary and sexual dysfunction.

Transanal TME (TaTME)

In experienced centers, TME has also been attempted transanally, particularly for distal rectal tumors in obese male patients with a narrow pelvis. Because the distal margin is assessed precisely from the beginning of the procedure, Transanal TME (TaTME) has the potential to define the resection margins more clearly than standard transabdominal TME(27)(28).

Studies with a follow-up of up to 2 years showed that TaTME had a similarlocal recurrence rate and survival rate to standard TME. Long-term oncologic outcomes of TaTME, however, have not been reported. Iatrogenic urethral injury has also been noted in men who underwent TaTME. Transabdominal TME remains the standard treatment for most patients with rectal cancer.

TME outcomes

TME is associated with improved local control and better survival, as well as decreased postoperative genitourinary dysfunction due to pelvic autonomic nerve preservation. The local recurrence rates of an APR or sphincter-sparing procedure with TME ranged from 4 to 7 percent.[In comparison, the local recurrence rates of the same procedures without TME ranged from 14 to 45 percent, depending upon whether or not adjuvant therapy was used]. The improvement in local recurrence rates with TME is attributed to improved clearance of tumor deposits from the mesentery, as well as a decreased risk of disrupting the mesentery and spilling

tumor cells during dissection. TME also preserves the pelvic autonomic nerves, which reduces the risk of postoperative genitourinary dysfunction(29).

Regional lymph node dissection

Lymph node dissection is performed for the purposes of staging, local control, and to prevent metastasis of the disease. It is achieved by removing the blood supply and lymphatics up to the level of the origin of the superior rectal artery. "High" ligation of the inferior mesenteric artery at the origin of the aorta, or extended lymph node dissection laterally, is not necessary in the absence of clinically positive nodes. Atleast 12 lymph nodes sampling has been adopted as a quality metric for colorectal cancer surgery by the American College of Surgeons, the College of American Pathologists, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), and the American Association of Clinical Oncology (ASCO). However, the use of neoadjuvant chemoradiation has been shown to reduce the number of lymph nodes that can be retrieved from the surgical specimen(30).

Abdominal Perineal Resection and Low Anterior Resection:

The rectum and sigmoid colon are mobilized through an abdominal incision. The pelvic dissection, done through the abdominal incision, mobilizes the mesorectum in continuity with the tumor-bearing rectum. The pelvic dissection extends upto the level of the levator ani muscles. The perineal part of the operation includes excision of the anus, anal sphincters, and distal rectum which is excised when adequate margins are not possible due to close proximity to anal sphincters(31). Anterior resection is the resection of rectosigmoid above the peritoneal reflection

and low anterior resection indicates that the operation entails resection of the rectum below the peritoneal reflection through an abdominal approach. For cancers involving the lower half of the rectum, the entire mesorectum should be excised along with the rectum. Total mesorectal excision, produces the complete resection of the rectum and its adjacent mesorectum, enveloped within the visceral pelvic fascia with uninvolved circumferential margins.

Total mesorectal excision has resulted in a significant increase in 5-year survival rates (50% to 75%), a decrease in local recurrence rates (30% to 5%), and a decrease in the incidence of impotence and bladder dysfunction (85% to <15%).

Radiotherapy :

Radiotherapy is not used as a primary modality in treatment of rectal carcinoma however several studies have proven its use in improving local control following surgery. The usual dose given is 45 Gy in 25 fractions of 1.8 Gy each. An additional tumor boost may be administered, usually through opposed lateral fields, to an additional 5.4 to 9 Gy. Details regarding dose o radiation and combined treatment with concurrent chemotherapy is given below under management of stages of rectal cancer(32).

Chemotherapy:

Chemotherapy aims to sterilize the micro-metastatic disease and facilitating the local control rates achieved by surgery and radiotherapy. Anti-metabolites (fluoropyrimidines) form the mainstay of chemotherapy in rectal cancers. Presently, the chemotherapeutic agents effective in

rectal cancers include platinum based compounds and camptothecins along with biological agents such as monoclonal antibodies against Epidermal Growth Factor Receptors (Cetuximab) and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor receptors (Bevacizumab). Concurrent chemotherapy (5 fluorouracil) is also commonly practiced with radiation in treatment of rectal cancer because of its potentiating effect with radiation. Other newer drugs including oral fluoropyrimidines (capecitabine), oxaliplatin, and irinotecan, have been shown to be effective in the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer(33)(17)(34).

Concurrent Chemoradiation :

National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines recommends preoperative concurrent chemoradiotherapy as a standard treatment for stage II/III rectal cancer. The recommended radiation dose is 45~50Gy in 25~28 fractions using multiple radiation fields (generally 3~4 fields technique).

European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) recommends short course radiotherapy (1

week, 25 Gy/5f) or long course radiotherapy (45-50.4 Gy/1.8-2 Gy), combined with 5fluorouracil (5-FU). ESMO guidelines recommended that the treatment for rectal cancer should be stratified based on the recurrence risk. The recurrence risk is assessed by the pretreatment MRI including the tumor invasion depth (T staging), number of metastatic lymph nodes (N staging), the distance to anus, invasion of mesorectal fascia and extramural vascular invasion. Based on this the patients are divided into ultra-low-risk group, low-risk group, medium-risk group and high-risk group(35).

For ultra-low-risk group and low risk group (T1~2, early T3N0, tumor invasion depth less than 5 mm assessed by MRI, unaffected mesorectal fascia and extramural vascular invasion, if the tumor is located above the levator ani, middle and low rectal cancer), the recommended treatment includes direct surgery. If pathology indicates adverse prognostic factors including metastatic lymph nodes or positive circumferential resection margin, post operative chemotherapy should be added (36).

For Medium-risk group (T2-3, T4a, tumor invasion depth more than 5 mm assessed by MRI, un-affected mesorectal fascia, or/and metastatic lymph nodes), neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy can significantly reduce the local recurrence rate(36). Long course chemoradiotherapy can bring higher pCR rate and is currently the first choice of most radiotherapy centers.

For High-risk group (T3~T4b with mesorectal fascia invasion, or/and metastatic iliac lymph nodes), Long course chemoradiotherapy followed with TME (Total Mesorectal Excision) surgery after 6 to 8 weeks is the first choice and accepted treatment modalities for high-risk group patients. For elderly patients or patients who cannot tolerate long-term course of chemotherapy, $5\times5Gy$ short course of radiotherapy can be considered.

RECENT STUDIES ON CARCINOMA RECTUM

INTERNATIONAL STUDIES

In a study published by Emmanuel Gabriel et al(3) in Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology in 2018 February, they tried to identify differences in both demographic and pathologic factors associated with the age-related rates of colorectal cancer (CRC) and overall survival (OS). Using the National Cancer Data Base for patients from 2004- 2013 they divided the patients based on their age (< 50 vs > 60 years). A multivariable analysis was performed to identify factors associated with OS. A total of 670,030 patients were included.181,909 with rectal or rectosigmoid cancer. patients \leq 50 years had higher proportions of pathologic stage III and IV disease than patients \geq 60 (III: 35.8% vs. 28.6%, IV: 16.5% vs. 11.6%, respectively for age \leq 50 and \geq 60 years; P \leq 0.001).

Another study published in the European Journal of Cancer 2009(2), the association between duration of symptoms and colorectal cancer was studied among 4155 patients with symptom duration as an explanatory variable and tumour stage as a dependent variable .It was noted that there was an inverse relationship between symptom duration and colon cancer TNM-stage. However there was no correlation between rectal carcinoma and duration of symptoms.

In another study published in International Journal of Surgery by Eisar Al Sukhni et al(19) studied thepredictors of circumferential resection margin involvement in surgically resected rectal cancer. It was a retrospective study in which 13.3% had a positive CRM. Of these, 54.2% received neoadjuvant therapy in the form of chemotherapy (4.5%), radiation (2.5%), or both (47.2%). Adjuvant radiation and chemoradiation were administered in 2.8% and 12.2% of CRM positive patients, respectively . A third of the CRM positive patients didnot receive radiation as it was not part of the planned treatment (81.1%) or it was contraindicated due to patient risk factors (6.9%) or it was refused by the patient (5.8%).

Svenja Thies (37)et al in another study assessing the tumour regression grade in gastrointestinal tumours post neoadjuvant therapy. Tumor regression grading (TRG) systems aim to categorize the amount of regressive changes that are present after cytotoxic treatment that the patient receives in the form of neoadjuvant therapy. It is the induced fibrosis in relation to residual tumor or the estimated percentage of residual tumor in relation to the previous tumor site. There are various different TRG systems depending on the site of tumour. The two commonly used grading systems for rectal cancer the Dworak or the Rödel grading system(38). The system more commonly used is the Rodel Grading System. Patients with pathological complete regression showed improved disease-free survival, decreased risk of local recurrence and improved overall survival.

In another retrospective study published in Journal of Clinical Pathology in 2012 conducted by MacGregor TP et al (39), said that patients with pathological complete regression showed improved disease-free survival, lower risk of local recurrence, better chance of being free from

distant metastasis and increased overall survival. TRG, especially in terms of complete regression, therefore is considered to representing a potential tool to guide therapy in patients with rectal cancer as well.

INDIAN STUDIES :

A study conducted by J.Nath et al in a Tertiary centre in India (CMC, Vellore) in 2009(40). The aim of this study was to determine the relative incidence of rectal cancer in young patients (< 40 years) in India and identify any differences in histological grade and pathological stage between younger and older cohorts. There were 102 patients involved in this study from September 2003 to August 2007. It was noted that 35.5% of the patients were less than 40 years of age and were more likely to present with less favourable histological features (52.0% vs 20.5% (P < 0.001)) and low rectal tumours (63.0% vs 50.0%) (P = 0.043). However they were equally likely to undergo curative surgery compared to the older group (P = 0.629). Younger patients undergoing surgery had a higher pathological T stage (T0–2 18.9%, T3 62.3%, T4 19.7% vs 34.5%, 56.0%, 9.5%) (P = 0.027) and higher pathological N stage (N0 31.1%, N1 41.0%, N2 27.9% vs 53.4%, 26.7%, 17.2%) (P = 0.014).

In another Indian study by Ruhina Shirin Laskaret al in Assam ,144 patients were studied in view of analysing the frequency and clinicopathological characteristics of rectal cancer patients. Of this70 (48.61%) were below 40 years and 74 (51.39%) were \geq 40 yr of age. The mean age at presentation was 43. 4 ± 15.8 yr, the youngest patient was 14 years old. The younger patients had predominance of low rectal tumours, advanced T-stage, poor differentiation with mucinous and signet ring and an advanced disease stage as compared to the older patients.

METHODOLOGY

The study was conducted in the Department of Surgery Unit II, Christian Medical College and Hospital, Vellore. Patients who were diagnosed with non metastatic carcinoma rectum during the period January 2015 to December 2017 were recruited in the study.

STUDY DESIGN

This was a case control study. Cases were defined as patients who underwent rectal resection, and controls were patients who were inoperable, even after neoadjuvant therapy.

INCLUSION CRITERIA

- All patients diagnosed to have carcinoma rectum
- Planned for neoadjuvant therapy followed by surgery

During the study period (Jan 2015 -Dec 2017)

EXCLUSION CRITERIA

Patients with

- 1. Metastatic carcinoma rectum
- 2. Received neoadjuvant therapy at another centre

OUTCOMES

Identification of clinical and pathological and radiological factors to predict risk for

resectability in non metastatic carcinoma rectum.

SAMPLE SIZE CALCULATION

 $n = (4*p*q)/(d^2)$

where, p = proportion of recurrence (60%), q=1-p (1-0.60),d=10%

Sample size= 144

SAMPLING :

For all patients with a newly diagnosed rectal cancer, a pretreatment staging evaluation is required, which includes all patients who are diagnosed with carcinoma are discussed in the Multidisciplinary Tumor Board Meeting and their treatment plan is decided. Treatment plan may include surgical resection or non-surgical management. However, some patients after the treatment plan is made choose to continue further treatment at their local hospital and hence discontinue further treatment at our Hospital. Patients who had received surgical intervention elsewhere but have presented at our Hospital for further management are also discussed in the Multidisciplinary Tumor Board Meeting, however since they had received treatment else where they were excluded from the study.

ANALYSIS:

Categorical variables weresummarized using counts and percentages. Quantitative variables were a using mean and standard deviation or median and IQR. Prevalence of stiffness will be presented with 95% CI. Chi square test will be used to compare the categorical variables between need and no need of surgery. Two sample t-test / Mann Whitney U test (depending on normality) will be used to compare the continuous variables between need and no need of surgery. The risk factors /predictors will be determined using logistic regression and the estimate of effect will be given as Odds ratio(95% CI).

VARIABLES :

- Age
- Sex
- Body Mass Index (BMI)
- Duration of symptoms
- Mobility of the tumour
- Obstruction of the tumour
- Histological classification of the tumour
- Tumour stage (based on MRI)
- Nodal involvement (based on MRI)

- Circumferential Resection Margin (CRM)
- EMVI (Extramural venous invasion)
- Tumour Regression grade (TRG).

The study includes :

- ➤ History and physical examination.
- Routine laboratory tests, including liver function tests, radiological imaging (CT, MRI)
- Histopathology report after the pathologist has examined the final resection specimen. The "y" prefix is used for those cancers that are classified on the basis of a surgical specimen after neoadjuvant pretreatment (e.g., ypTNM). The designation of the clinical stage of a rectal cancer generally rests upon the diagnostic biopsy, physical examination, and radiographic studies, such as computed tomography (CT), MRI, and transrectal ultrasound. An important point is that pathologic T stage (pT) entails a resection of the primary tumor or biopsy adequate to evaluate the highest pT category.

After evaluation of newly diagnosed rectal carcinoma, all patients are discussed in Multidisciplinary Tumor Board Meeting and treatment plan is made. In this study we have included patients with non-metastatic carcinoma rectum both who were managed operatively and non-operatively and have attempted to analyze the factors which predict resectability in these patients.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was done using Stata version 13.1. Descriptive statistics like frequencies, percentage and median were used to represent demographic and clinical variables . Associations and correlations between demographic data, variables and selected outcome were done using chi square test and pearson correlation test.

OUTLINE OF THE STUDY

Figure 1



RESULTS

There were 144 patients included in the study. 90 were in the study arm (underwent surgery) and 54 in the control arm (did not undergo surgery)

1. DEMOGRAPHIC DETAILS

AGE:

The median age was 52 years old, 21 being the youngest and 76 being the oldest. Median age in the operated group was 52yrs and inoperable group was 48yrs . This was statistically not significant (p=0.0829)

It was noted that out of the 90 patients who underwent surgery 78% of the patients were over 40 years. It was also noted that out of the 54 patients who did not undergo surgery 92% of the patients were over 40 years of age.

AGE (years)	DISTRIBUTION IN	PERCENTAGE IN
	OPERATED PATIENTS	IN OPERABLE PATIENTS
20-40	22.0 %	7.9 %
40 - 60	41.6 %	54.4 %
>60	36.4 %	37.6 %

Table-2 Age distribution

GENDER:

There was a male predominance overall, males 90 (62.5 %) and females 54 (37.5 %). There was no significant gender difference between operated (61 % male, 39 % female) and non operated (64 % male, 36 % female) patients (p= 0.6612).



Figure-2 Sex ratio

2. BODY MASS INDEX (BMI)

Out of the 144 patients, BMI was not recorded in 26 patients who were all among the inoperable patients. The distribution of cases with documented BMI based on WHO classification is as follows.

RANGE OF BMI	OPERATED PATIENTS (%)	IN OPERABLEPATIENTS (%)
Underweight (< 18.5)	16	28.57
Normal (18.5 – 24.9)	54	35.7
Pre obese (25 – 29.9)	26	21.4
Obese class I (30 – 34.9)	4	14.2
Obese class II (35 – 39.9)	0	0
Obese class III (> 40)	0	0

Table-3 BMI

The Mean BMI in the operated group 22.8 and in the inoperable group was 21.4 which was statistically significant(p=0.0001).

3. DURATION OF SYMPTOMS :

Out of the 144 cases, duration was not mentioned in 5 cases. In the operated cases, 77.78 % of the patients had presented within one year of onset of symptoms . Only 5 patients (5.6 %) had symptoms longer than 2 years duration in this group. In the inoperable group it was noted that of the 50 cases with documented duration, 16 patients (32 %) had presented within one year of onset of symptoms while 22 patients (44 %) had symptoms for one to two years and 12 patients (24 %) had symptoms for longer than 2 years. The duration of symptoms was found to vary significantly between the two groups(p=0.000365).

Table-4 Duration of symptoms

DURATION	OPERATED PATIENTS	INOPERABLEPATIENTS
< 1 year	77.78 %	32 %
1 – 2 years	16.7 %	44 %
> 2 years	5.6 %	24 %

4. MOBILITY OF THE LESION :

In the operated patients out of 90 patients, in 23 patients the mobility was noT mentioned either in view of high lesion or due to poor documentation. Of the remaining cases, 42 patients (46.1 %) had mobile lesions and 25 patients (29.2 %) had lesions with restricted mobility. In the inoperable group of patients it was noted that out o 54 patients, 25 patients did not have documentation on mobility due to high lesion or poor documentation. Out of the remaining cases, 7 patients (12.9 %) had mobile lesions while 22 patients (40.7 %) had lesions with restricted mobility which attained statistical significance (p=0.000522).



Figure 3- Mobility of lesions in operated patients



Figure 4- Mobility of lesions in inoperable patients

5. OBSTRUCTION OF THE TUMOUR :

Of the 90 operated patients, in 23 patients (27 %) the level of obstruction was not mentioned due to high lesion or poor documentation. 30 patients (37.7 %)had no obstruction while 39 patients (42.86 %) had obstructed lesion. In the inoperablepatients,14 patients (25.92 %) did not have the required details due to above mentioned reason. 8 patients (14.81 %) had non obstructed lesion and 32 patients (59.2 %) hadobstructed lesion. Higher level of obstruction was seen in the inoperable group (p=0.01316).



Figure 5- Obstruction of tumor in operated patients



Figure 6- Obstruction of tumor in in operable patients

6. HISTOPATHOLOGY :

Of all the 90 operated patients , majority of the patients had moderately differentiated adenocarcinoma ($81.8 \ \%$). The other main group consisted of poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma ($15.56 \ \%$). There was only one case of well differentiated adenocarcinoma (1%) and one case of no residual tumour ($1 \ \%$).Of the inoperable cases the histopathology consisted of 72.2 % cases with moderately differentiated adenocarcinoma and 27.7 % cases with poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma. Inoperable group had a significantly higher number of patients with poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma (p=0.0405).



Figure 7- Histopathology findings

7. RADIOLOGICAL FEATURES :

The radiological features that were studied included Circumferential Resection Margin (CRM), Extramural venous invasion (EMVI), nodal stage, tumour stage and tumour regression grade (TRG).

8. CIRCUMFERENTIAL RESECTION MARGIN (CRM)

In the operated patients, 48 % patients had CRM positive. In the inoperable patients 79 % patients had CRM positive which was significant (p=0.000005). There were 4 patients in the inoperablegroup who did not have CRM reported.

9. EXRAMURAL VENOUS INVASION (EMVI)

In the operated patients , 44 % patients had EMVI positive. Whereas in inoperablepatients there were 72 % patients with positiveEMVI (p=0.00006).



Figure 8- EMVI status in operated and inoperable patients

10. NODAL INVOLVEMENT :

In operated group, 86.67 % of the patients had nodal involvement. In the inoperablegroup, 89.12 % of the patients had nodal involvement. It was also noted that in the operated group, 17.78 % of cases had involvement of CRM, EMVI and nodal involvement and 41.8 % of inoperablegroup had involvement of all three above mentioned factors (p=0.6634).

11. TUMOUR STAGE :

In operated group, 7.68 % of patients had T2 stage, 64 % had T3 stage and 28.56 % of patients had T4 stage. In theinoperablegroup, 2.9 % had T2 stage, 18.9 % had T3 stage and 78.2 % had T4 stage which was significantly higher than the prevalence T4 stage tumours among operated patients (p=0.01).

TUMOUR STAGE	OPERATED (%)	INOPERABLE (%)
T1	0	0
T2	7.68	2.9
Т3	64	18.9
T4	28.56	78.2

Table 5- Tumor staging between operated and inoperable patients

12. TUMOUR REGRESSION GRADE (TRG):

In operated patients, 5.26 % of patients had TRG 1, 22.36 % had TRG 2, 40.79 % had TRG 3 (most common), 23.69 % had TRG 4, 1 % had TRG 5 and 7.8 % patients did not have follow up imaging , hence values were not documented.

Of the 54 patients in the inoperablegroup only 23 patients had follow up imaging of which 9.84 % had TRG 3, 62% had TRG 2, 28.1% had TRG 1.

DISCUSSION

The primary outcome we aimed to achieve was to identify clinical, pathological and radiological factors to predict risk for resectability in non metastatic carcinoma rectum. The secondary outcome we aimed to achieve was to predict the probable treatment process to the patients at an early stage. Thus helping the patients to be better informed regarding their treatment plan. The various variables assessed are discussed below to help determine those specific variables that can help formulate the treatment plan earlier than the current practice.

AGE

Based on literature it is noted that Carcinoma rectum is more common above 50 years of age(4) Similarly in this study it was noted that 78% patients above the age of 40 had resectable tumours whereas 92 % of patients with non resectable tumours were abov the age of 40. Odds ratio is 0.31 with 95 % confidence interval (0.13 to 0.73).

SEX

Male predominance is noted in rectal carcinoma. In our study it was also noted that there was a male predominance (62.5 %). There was no significant difference between the sex distribution in resectable and non resectable cases. However it was seen that in less than 30 years there were more number of female patients (74 % in operated group and 81 % in the inoperable group).

BODY MASS INDEX

There is a lot of epidemiological evidence that obesity is associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer(41). This is mainly due to insulin resistance, increased levels of leptin, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, endogenous sex steroids, decreased levels of adiponectin, and chronic inflammation which are all involved in carcinogenesis and cancer progression. However in his study it was noted that the patients were predominantly under normal weight category as per WHO classification(42). It was noted that there were many underweight patients both in the resectable (16%) and non resectable groups (28.57%). This was attributed to patients with obstructing lesions and poor nutrition. It was also noted that there were significantly more patients in the obese class I group among the patients with non resectable tumours (14.2%) when compared to resectable tumour group (4%). Odds ratio in these patients with class I obesity is 0.25 (Confidence interval 0.08 - 0.79).

DURATION OF SYMPTOMS

It was noted that patients with longer duration of symptoms had a higher risk of non resectable tumours(8). In this study, the odds ratio for patients with symptoms for more than 2 years to have non resectable tumour was 5.32 (confidence interval 2.02- 14.02).

MOBILITY OF TUMOUR

Restricted mobility fixed tumour is suggestive of locally advanced tumour. The staging or these patients is only complete after imaging. However based on literature it is seen that these patients usually require multimodality treatment (neo adjuvant therapy) so that R0 resection can be done. Similarly in this study it was noted that there was a higher chance on non respectability and multimodality treatment in patients with fixed lesions. The limitation in this study included the non documentation of mobility in 48 cases of the total 144cases.

OBSTRUCTION OF THE TUMOUR

As mentioned earlier the limitation of this study includes non documentation for 37 patients regarding obstruction of the tumour. However similar to literature, patients with restricted

mobility and obstructed lesion were more common in locally advanced tumour which required multimodality management and were more likely to be unresectable. Odds ratio for a patient with obstructed tumour to be unresectable based on this study is 1.88 (Confidence Interval 1.07 -3.29).

HISTOPATHOLOGY:

As mentioned in literature, moderately differentiated carcinoma is the most common. Similarly in this study it was noted that moderately differentiated carcinoma was more common. However it was noted that poorly differentiated carcinoma was more common in the inoperable group (27.7 %) than in the operated group (15.56 %).

CIRCUMERENTIAL RESECTION MARGIN (CRM)

CRM assessed in this study is based on the pre treatment MRI (staging MRI) . It is seen that an involved CRM is associated with increased local recurrence, distant metastasis and poor overall survival(43)(19). Similarly in this study it was noted that in non resectable patients 79 % had CRM involved compared to 48 % patients with resectable tumours with involved CRM . The odds ratio of patient with involved CRM to have non resectable tumour is 4.08 (Confidence interval 2.19 - 7.58).

It has been identified that certain variables identified during pre operative assessment have a worse prognosis requiring multimodality treatment. These include T3 tumors with extramural extension >5 mm, or N2 disease, the presence of extramural vascular invasion or potential

CRM involvement. Similarly in our study it was noted that patients with T4 disease, nodal involvement ,EMVI positive and CRM positive had significantly higher chance of inoperability or need or multimodality treatment(44).

EXTRAMURAL VENOUS INVASION (EMVI)

Extramural venous invasion (EMVI) is defined as the presence of tumor cells within blood vessels beyond the muscularis propria. EMVI is an independent factor for poor prognosis in rectal cancer, with the sensitivity of 28.2-62% and specificity of 88-94%(45). In this study as well it was noted that of the resectable tumour group 44 % patients had EMVI involved , whereas in the non resectable group 72 % patients had EMVI involved. The odds ratio for a patient with EMVI positive to have non resectable tumour is 3.27 (Confidence interval 1.82 - 5.9).

Extramural tumor extension is an established independent prognostic factors of rectal carcinoma. Study has showen that patients with tumors with an extramural extension of 5 mm or less, regardless of the nodal status, have a 5-year cancer-specific survival rate of 85%, whereas in tumors with extramural extension greater than 5 mm, the survival rate is 54%(46). In our study as well it was noted that there is a significant adverse correlation between EMVI and rectal cancer.

NODAL INVOLVEMENT

Based on literature it is noted that higher level of nodal involvement is directly related to worse prognosis and non respectability of tumour. Similarly in this study it was noted that 89.12% of non resectable tumours had lymph node involvement. However it was also noted that there was 86.67 % resectable patients with nodal involvement, these patients underwent neoadjuvant therapy prior to their surgery .

TUMOUR STAGE

As multiple studies show that higher the tumour staging (T3 T4) higher the chance of local or distant spread of the malignancy(47). Similarly in this study it was noted that 78.2 % of patients with non resectable disease had T4 disease and 18.9% patients had T3 disease(48). However in patients with resectable tumour it was seen that only 28.56 % had T4 disease and 64 % had T3 disease. The patients with T3 disease were given multimodality treatment with neoadjuvant chemoradiation thus downstaging the disease prior to surgery. The patients in this group with obstructed tumours underwent diversion procedure prior to neoadjuvant treatment.

Table -5: Comparison of tumor stage between operated and inoperablepatients.

TUMOUR STAGE	OPERATED (%)	INOPERABLE (%)
T1	0	0
T2	7.68	2.9
Т3	q	18.9
T4	28.56	78.2

12. TUMOUR REGRESSION GRADE (TRG):

Tumor regression grading (TRG) system aims to categorize the amount of regressive changes after cytotoxic treatment(37)(39). It usually refers to the amount of therapy induced fibrosis in relation to residual tumor or the estimated percentage of residual tumor in relation to the previoustumor site. The commonly used grading for rectal carcinoma includes Dworak and Rodel system(38). In this study, Rodel system was used. The limitation of this variable was that there was follow up MRI for patients with resectable tumours hence the data could be analysed, however, in non resectable group there only 31 patients out of 54 patients had follow up MRI. The other 23 patients had either continued treatment elsewhere or were on palliative treatment.

In resectable group most common TRG was TRG 3 (40.79 %). In the non resectable group out of the 31 patients 62 % had TRG 2 and 28.1% had TRG 1.

	Dworak et al			Rodel et al]
0. No regressi	on		0. No regress	sion	
1. Predominar and/or vasculo	ntly tumor with sign opathy	ificant fibrosis	1. Regression	n of <25%	

2. Predominantly fibrosis with scattered tumor cells (slightly recognizable histologically)	2. Regression of 25–50%			
3. Only scattered tumor cells in the space of fibrosis with/without acellular mucin	3. Regression of >50%			
4. No vital tumor cells detectable	4. Complete regression			
Table -6:Tumor regression grade				
	VARIABLES	OPERABLE	INOPERABLE	P VALUE
----	--	----------	------------	----------------
		(90)	(54)	
1	AGE (MEDIUM)	52	47	0.0829
2	GENDER (MALE)	61	64	0.6612
3	BMI (MEAN)	22.8	21.4	0.0001
4	DURATION OF SYMPTOMS (>2 YEARS)	5	13	0.000365
5	MOBILITY (FIXED)	25	22	0.000522
6	OBSTRUCTION OF TUMOUR (OBSTRUCTED)	39	32	0.013167
7	HISTOPATHOLOGY (POORLY DIFFERENTIATED ADENOCARCINOMA)	16	28	0.040524
8	CRM	48	79	0.000005
9	EMVI	44	72	0.00006
10	LYMPHADENOPATHY	87	89	0.663422
11	TUMOUR STAGE (T4)	25	42	0.01

Table 7: Summary of results

CONCLUSION

This study was planned to identify factors that predict resectability in non metastatic carcinoma rectum. The important conclusions from this study are :

- Rectal carcinoma is more common after 40 years of age, however the age does not help in predicting if the tumour is resectable.
- Resectability cannot be predicted based on the sex of the individual.
- Though studies show obesity a risk factor for non resectable tumours, this study could not establish a significant correlation regarding the same. It was noted that there were more underweight patients in the non resectable group, probably owing to long duration of symptoms, obstruction and poor nutrition.
- If the duration of symptoms is longer than 2 years there is a significant chance of the tumour being non resectable.
- Although other studies have shown that the risk of non resectability is higher if the growth is obstructed or has restricted
- Mobility, this could not be proved in this study due to small numbers
- Moderately differentiated carcinoma was the most common histopathological type of tumour. There was a higher number of poorly differentiated adencarcinoma in the non resectable group, however it wasn't significant to predict that patients with poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma have higher chance of having non resectable tumours.
- Circumferential Resection Margin (CRM) is an important predictor of resectability as seen in other studies. In this study also it was found to be significantly higher in non resectable tumour group and in patients receiving neoadjuvant chemoradiation. So it can

be used as a valuable predictor while making the treatment plan for a patient with non metastatic rectal carcinoma.

- Extramural Venous Invasion (EMVI) is also an important predictor of respectability based on other studies. In this study it proved to be a valuable indicator of non resectability and for patients requiring multimodality treatment.
- Nodal involvement is considered as an important predictor of resectability. However in this study there was no significant difference between the resectable and non resectable groups. In the resectable group, patients with lymph node involvement underwent multimodality treatment.
- In tumour staging it is known that higher the T stage the higher the chance of nonresectability. Similarly in our study it was noted that patients with T4 disease had a significantly higher risk of having non resectable tumour.mobility. This fact is shown in other studies, however could not be proved in this study since there were many cases were the details were not documented.
- Moderately differentiated carcinoma was the most common histopathological type of tumour. There was a higher number of poorly differentiated adencarcinoma in the non resectable group, however it wasn't significant to predict that patients with poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma have higher chance of having non resectable tumours.
- Circumferential Resection Margin (CRM) is an important predictor of resectability as seen in other studies. In this study also it was found to be significantly higher in non resectable tumour group and in patients receiving neoadjuvant chemoradiation. So it can be used as a valuable predictor while making the treatment plan for a patient with non metastatic rectal carcinoma.

75

- Extramural Venous Invasion (EMVI) is also an important predictor of respectability based on other studies. In this study it proved to be a valuable indicator of nonresectability and for patients requiring multimodality treatment.
- Nodal involvement is considered as an important predictor of resectability. However in this study there was no significant difference between the resectable and non resectable groups. In the resectable group, patients with lymph node involvement underwent multimodality treatment.
- In tumour staging it is known that higher the T stage the higher the chance of non resectability. Similarly in our study it was noted that patients with T4 disease had a significantly higher risk of having non resectable tumour.
- Based on studies , lower the Tumour Regression Grade, higher the risk of non resectability. However, in this study we were unable to prove the same due to poor follow up MRI in the non resectable group.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(6):394–424.
- 2. Prevalence and risk factors of colorectal cancer in Asia [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6667372/
- 3. Gabriel E, Attwood K, Al-Sukhni E, Erwin D, Boland P, Nurkin S. Age-related rates of colorectal cancer and the factors associated with overall survival. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2018 Feb;9(1):96–110.
- Bailey CE, Hu C-Y, You YN, Bednarski BK, Rodriguez-Bigas MA, Skibber JM, et al. Increasing disparities in the age-related incidences of colon and rectal cancers in the United States, 1975-2010. JAMA Surg. 2015 Jan;150(1):17–22.
- 5. Wong TS-H, Chay WY, Tan M-H, Chow KY, Lim W-Y. Reproductive factors, obesity and risk of colorectal cancer in a cohort of Asian women. Cancer Epidemiol. 2019;58:33–43.
- 6. Systematic review of clinical features of suspected colorectal cancer in primary care [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4131977/
- 7. Management of Non-Hepatic Metastatic Disease in Colorectal Cancer | IntechOpen [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/books/colorectal-cancer-surgery-diagnostics-and-treatment/management-of-non-hepatic-metastatic-disease-in-colorectal-cancer
- 8. Jullumstrø E, Lydersen S, Møller B, Dahl O, Edna T-H. Duration of symptoms, stage at diagnosis and relative survival in colon and rectal cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2009 Sep;45(13):2383–90.
- 9. Chatterjee P, Eapen A, Perakath B, Singh A. Radiologic and pathological correlation of staging of rectal cancer with 3 Tesla magnetic resonance imaging. Can Assoc Radiol J. 2011 Aug;62(3):215–22.
- 10. Zhang S-Y, Lin M, Zhang H-B. Diagnostic value of carcinoembryonic antigen and carcinoma antigen 19-9 for colorectal carcinoma. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2015 Aug 1;8(8):9404–9.
- 11. Cho WK, Choi DH, Park HC, Park W, Yu JI, Park YS, et al. Elevated CEA is associated with worse survival in recurrent rectal cancer. Oncotarget. 2017 Nov 18;8(62):105936–41.
- Monitoring of Serum Carcinoembryonic Antigen Levels after Curative Resection of Colon Cancer: Cutoff Values Determined according to Preoperative Levels Enhance the Diagnostic Accuracy for Recurrence [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5452279/
- 13. Fazeli MS, Keramati MR. Rectal cancer: a review. Med J Islam Repub Iran. 2015 Jan 31;29:171.
- Gress DM, Edge SB, Greene FL, Washington MK, Asare EA, Brierley JD, et al. Principles of Cancer Staging. In: Amin MB, Edge SB, Greene FL, Byrd DR, Brookland RK, Washington MK, et al., editors. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2017 [cited 2019 Nov 11]. p. 3–30. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-40618-3_1

- 15. Barel F, Cariou M, Saliou P, Kermarrec T, Auffret A, Samaison L, et al. Histopathological factors help to predict lymph node metastases more efficiently than extra-nodal recurrences in submucosa invading pT1 colorectal cancer. Sci Rep. 2019 Dec;9(1):8342.
- 16. Samarasam I, Mathew G, Sitaram V, Perakath B, Rao A, Nair A. The abdominal cocoon and an effective technique of surgical management. Trop Gastroenterol. 2005 Mar;26(1):51–3.
- de Camargo MGM, Xhaja X, Aiello A, Liska D, Gorgun E, Dietz DW, et al. Does one size fit all? Risks and benefits of neoadjuvant chemoradiation in patients with clinical stage IIA rectal cancer requiring abdominoperineal resection. Am J Surg. 2019 Oct 23;
- 18. Rectal Cancer: Sphincter-Sparing Resection for Rectal Cancer [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2789515/
- 19. Al-Sukhni E, Attwood K, Gabriel E, Nurkin SJ. Predictors of circumferential resection margin involvement in surgically resected rectal cancer: A retrospective review of 23,464 patients in the US National Cancer Database. Int J Surg. 2016 Apr;28:112–7.
- Wang M, Lu J-J, Kong W-J, Kang X-J, Gao F. Clinical characteristics of sentinel polyps and their correlation with proximal colon cancer: A retrospective observational study. World J Clin Cases. 2019 Oct 26;7(20):3217–25.
- 21. (13) Close Distal Margin and Rectal Cancer Recurrence After Sphincter-Preserving Rectal Resection [Internet]. ResearchGate. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/46288791_Close_Distal_Margin_and_Rectal_Cancer_Recu rrence_After_Sphincter-Preserving_Rectal_Resection
- 22. When is local excision appropriate for "early" rectal cancer? [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4194025/
- 23. Delibegovic S. Introduction to Total Mesorectal Excision. Med Arch. 2017 Dec;71(6):434-8.
- 24. Clinical practice guidelines for the surgical treatment of rectal cancer: a consensus statement of the Hellenic Society of Medical Oncologists (HeSMO) [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4805730/
- 25. Total Mesorectal Excision an overview | ScienceDirect Topics [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/medicine-and-dentistry/total-mesorectalexcision
- 26. Pathologic Processing of the Total Mesorectal Excision [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4336908/
- 27. Transanal total mesorectal excision (TaTME) versus laparoscopic TME for MRI-defined low rectal cancer: a propensity score-matched analysis of oncological outcomes [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6647375/
- 28. Mittal R, Perakath B, Chase S, Jesudason MR, Nayak S. Transanal excision of anorectal lesions--a single centre experience. Trop Gastroenterol. 2010 Mar;31(1):65–8.

- 29. Enríquez-Navascués JM, Borda N, Lizerazu A, Placer C, Elosegui JL, Ciria JP, et al. Patterns of local recurrence in rectal cancer after a multidisciplinary approach. World J Gastroenterol. 2011 Apr 7;17(13):1674–84.
- 30. Ong MLH, Schofield JB. Assessment of lymph node involvement in colorectal cancer. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2016 Mar 27;8(3):179–92.
- 31. Critical and Challenging Issues in the Surgical Management of Low-Lying Rectal Cancer [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6037599/
- 32. Vonk DT, Hazard LJ. Do all locally advanced rectal cancers require radiation? A review of literature in the modern era. Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology. 2010 Sep 13;1(1):45-54–54.
- Catalano V, Bergamo F, Cremolini C, Vincenzi B, Negri F, Giordani P, et al. Clinical impact of firstline bevacizumab plus chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer of mucinous histology: a multicenter, retrospective analysis on 685 patients. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2019 Nov 6;
- 34. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Azmi N, Guaglio M, Montenovo M, Deraco M. Colorectal Peritoneal Metastases Treated by Perioperative Systemic Chemotherapy and Cytoreductive Surgery With or Without Mitomycin C-Based HIPEC: A Comparative Study Using the Peritoneal Surface Disease Severity Score (PSDSS). Ann Surg Oncol. 2019 Nov 5;
- 35. Rectal Cancer Treatment Regimens Cancer Therapy Advisor [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.cancertherapyadvisor.com/home/cancer-topics/gastrointestinal-cancers/rectal-cancer-treatment-regimens/
- 36. A Review of Neoadjuvant Chemoradiotherapy for Locally Advanced Rectal Cancer [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4971740/
- 37. Tumor Regression Grading of Gastrointestinal Carcinomas after Neoadjuvant Treatment [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3791673/
- Rödel C, Martus P, Papadoupolos T, Füzesi L, Klimpfinger M, Fietkau R, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor regression after preoperative chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005 Dec 1;23(34):8688–96.
- 39. MacGregor TP, Maughan TS, Sharma RA. Pathological grading of regression following neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy: the clinical need is now. J Clin Pathol. 2012 Oct;65(10):867–71.
- 40. Nath J, Wigley C, Keighley MRB, Perakath B. Rectal cancer in young adults: a series of 102 patients at a tertiary care centre in India. Colorectal Disease. 2009;11(5):475–9.
- 41. Obesity and colon and rectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. PubMed NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17823417
- 42. van Kruijsdijk RCM, van der Wall E, Visseren FLJ. Obesity and cancer: the role of dysfunctional adipose tissue. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2009 Oct;18(10):2569–78.
- 43. What is the role for the circumferential margin in the modern treatment of rectal cancer? PubMed -NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18182672

- 44. Preoperative staging of rectal cancer. PubMed NCBI [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17957502
- 45. Clinical value of MRI- detected extramural venous invasion in rectal cancer Tripathi 2017 Journal of Digestive Diseases Wiley Online Library [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1751-2980.12439
- 46. Extent of Mesorectal Tumor Invasion as a Prognostic Factor After Curative Surgery for T3 Rectal Cancer Patients [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1448973/
- 47. Wagner TD, Fakih MG, Yang GY. Management of stage II/III rectal cancer. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010 Dec;1(2):112–9.
- 48. Surgery for Locally Advanced T4 Rectal Cancer: Strategies and Techniques [Internet]. [cited 2019 Nov 11]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4882171/



OFFICE OF RESEARCH INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE, VELLORE, INDIA

Dr. B.J. Prashantham, M.A., M.A., Dr. Min (Clinical) Director, Christian Counseling Center, Chairperson, Ethics Committee.

Dr. Anna Benjamin Pulimood, M.B.B.S., MD., Ph.D., Chairperson, Research Committee & Principal

Dr. Biju George, M.B.B.S., MD., DM., Deputy Chairperson, Secretary, Ethics Committee, IRB Additional Vice-Principal (Research)

November 08, 2019

Dr. Evangeline Preeti Jennifer, PG registrar, Department of General Surgery, Christian Medical College, Vellore - 632 004

Fluid Research Grant: New Proposal: Sub: Identification of predictors for resectability in non-metastatic carcinoma rectum. Dr. Evangeline Preeti Jennifer Emp. No. 29456, General Surgery, Dr. Mark Ranjan Jesudason (emp. No. 28981) Surgery H, Dr. Rajat Raghunath (emp. No. 28850), Surgery, Ms. Gowri tatistics

IRB Min. No. 112 Ref:

Dear Dr. Evangeline Prect

NINIS rd Blue, Research and Ethics Committee) of the Christian Me discussed your project titled "Identification of predictors for The Institutional Review the Christian Medical College, Vellore, reviewed and resectability in non-metastatic architina lecture Don Mardil 03, 201

VELLORE The Committee ed the following docu

- 1. IRB application f
- 2. Cvs of Drs. Evengetime, Mar Ranjan J, Rajat.
- 3. Waiver of Consent Form,
- 4. No. of documents 1-3.

The following Institutional Review Board (Blue, Research & Ethics Committee) members were present at the meeting held on March 05th 2018 in the Jacob Chandy Hall, Paul Brand Building, Christian Medical College, Vellore 632 004.

1 of 3

Ethics Committee Blue, Office of Research, 1st Floor, Carman Block, Christian Medical College, Vellore, Tamil Nadu 632 002 Tel: 0416 – 2284294, 2284202 Fax: 0416 - 2262788, 2284481 E-mail: research@cmcvellore.ac.in



OFFICE OF RESEARCH INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE, VELLORE, INDIA

Dr. B.J. Prashantham, M.A., M.A., Dr. Min (Clinical) Director, Christian Counseling Center, Chairperson, Ethics Committee.

Dr. Anna Benjamin Pulimood, M.B.B.S., MD., Ph.D., Chairperson, Research Committee & Principal

Dr. Biju George, M.B.B.S., MD., DM., Deputy Chairperson, Secretary, Ethics Committee, IRB Additional Vice-Principal (Research)

Name	Qualification	Designation	Affiliation		
Dr. Biju George	MBBS, MD, DM	Professor, Haematology,	Internal,		
		Research), Additional	Clinician		
		Vice Principal, Deputy			
	· · ·	Chairperson (Research			
		Committee), Member			
		Secretary (Ethics			
	· · · ·	Committee), IRB, CMC,			
	and a state of the	Vellore			
Dr. Mathew Joseph	MBBS, MCH	Professor, Neurosurgery,	Internal,		
	STENCE STENCE	CMC, Vellore	Clinician		
Dr. B. J. Prashantham	MA Counselling	Chairperson, Ethics	External,		
	Psychology,	Committee, IRB.	Social Scientist		
	MA(Theology), (25)	Director Christian			
	Di Mincelinica	Counseling Centre,			
	Counseling)	Vellore			
Dr. Sowmya	MBBS, MD (Gen.	Professor, Medicine M.,	Internal,		
Sathyendra	Medicine	CMC, Vellored	Clinician		
Dr. Thomas V Paul	MBBS, MDHDNBIN ME	DRFAfessor,EGE	Internal,		
	PhD VEL	Endocrinology, CMC,	Clinician		
	IN THE IN	DMellore			
Mr. C. Sampath	BSc, BL	Advocate, Vellore	External,		
		67	Legal Expert		
Dr. Jayaprakash	BSc, MBBS, MD,	Retired Professor, CMC,	External,		
Muliyil	MPH, Dr PH (Epid),	Vellore	Scientist &		
	DMHC		Epidemiologist		
Ms. Grace Rebekha	M.Sc., (Biostatistics)	Lecturer, Biostatistics,	Internal,		
		CMC, Vellore	Statistician		
Dr SnehaVarkki	MBBS, DCH, DNB	Professor, Paediatrics,	Internal,		
		CMC, Vellore	Clinician		
Dr. Shyam Kumar NK	MBBS, DMRD, DNB,	Professor, Radiology,	Internal,		
	FRCR, FRANZCR	CMC, Vellore	Clinician		
Mrs. Pattabiraman	BSc, DSSA	Social Worker, Vellore	External,		
			Lay Person		
Ref: IRB Min. No. 11212 [OBSERV] dated 05.03.2018 2 of 3					

Ref: IRB Min. No. 11212 [OBSERV] dated 05.03.2018

Ethics Committee Blue, Office of Research, 1st Floor, Carman Block, Christian Medical College, Vellore, Tamil Nadu 632 002 Tel: 0416 – 2284294, 2284202 Fax: 0416 – 2262788, 2284481 E-mail: research@cmcvellore.ac.in



OFFICE OF RESEARCH INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE, VELLORE, INDIA

Dr. B.J. Prashantham, M.A., M.A., Dr. Min (Clinical) Director, Christian Counseling Center, Chairperson, Ethics Committee. Dr. Anna Benjamin Pulimood, M.B.B.S., MD., Ph.D., Chairperson, Research Committee & Principal

Dr. Biju George, M.B.B.S., MD., DM., Deputy Chairperson, Secretary, Ethics Committee, IRB Additional Vice-Principal (Research)

Mrs. Nirmala Margaret	MSc Nursing	Professor, Medical Surgical Nursing, CMC,	Internal, Nurse					
			Tuto and 1					
Dr. John Antony Jude	MBBS, MD	Professor, Clinical	Internal,					
Prakash		Microbiology, CMC,	Clinician.					
		Vellore.						
Dr. AjithSivadasan	MD, DM	Professor, Neurological	Internal,					
	and the second se	Sciences, CMC, Vellore	Clinician					
Sciences SMC, Vellore Clinician We approve the project to be ponducted as presented. The Institutional Ethics Committee, expects to be informed about the appress of the project, any adverse events occurring in the course of the project divergements in the protocol and the patient information / more more course of the project divergements in the protocol and the patient information / more more course of the project divergements in the protocol and the patient information / more more course of the project divergements in the protocol and the patient information / more more course of the project divergements in the protocol and the patient information / more more course of the project divergements and in the protocol and the patient information / more more course of the project divergement with the protocol and the patient information / more divergement. Of completion of the study you are expected to submit a copy of the finance post. Respective forms can be downloaded from the following link http://172.16.2.3.136/Research/IRB Polices.html in the CMC Infrance and in the CMC website link address: http://www.tmch.veflore.edu/static/research/Index.html. CHRISTIAN MEDICAL COLLEGE Kindly provide the total number of patients entitledth your study and he total number of Withdrawals for the study entitled: "Mentification of predictors for resectability in nonmetastatic carcinoma rectum" on a more the basis Please standard for the study in the Research Office(research@cmcvellore.ac.in). With behavishes Dr. BIJU GEORGE MBBS., MD., DM. SECRETARY - (ETHICS COMMITTEE) Institutional Review Board. Dr. Biju George Christian Medical College, Vellore - 632 002. Secretary (Ethics Committee) Institutional Review Board.								
Ref: IRB Min. No. 1	1212 [OBSERV] dated 0	5.03.2018	3 of 3					

 Ethics Committee Blue, Office of Research, 1st Floor, Carman Block, Christian Medical College, Vellore, Tamil Nadu 632 002

 Tel: 0416 – 2284294, 2284202
 Fax: 0416 – 2262788, 2284481
 E-mail: research@cmcvellore.ac.in